1982

# John E. Merrihew v. Salt Lake County et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Appellant seeks the issuance of an extraordinary Writ in the nature of mandamus under Rule 65B(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, to require the defendants-respondents to reinstate and implement the decision of the Board of County Commissioners of Salt Lake County approving his Application for a zoning change.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court granted summary judgment in favor of defendants-respondents after ruling that the case presented no genuine issue as to any material fact and that defendants-respondents were entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff - appellant seeks on this appeal to have the Summary Judgment vacated and set aside and to have the case remanded to the District Court for trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff filed his Complaint in the District Court of Salt Lake County seeking the issuance of an Extraordinary Writ in the nature of Mandamus under the provisions of Rule 65B(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Those named as defendants included all serving members of the Salt Lake County Planning Commission and the Zoning Administrator, Planning Director and Building Inspection Department Director of Salt Lake County. (R.20-29)

The Complaint alleges that plaintiff filed his Application with the Salt Lake County Planning Commission for a zoning change on a small piece of agricultural land in Salt Lake County to enable him to construct a small one-story grocery and fruit store on the property. (R.20) That Application was denied on grounds that (1) the request was in conflict with the County Master Plan, (2) the proposed use was not necessary nor desirable at that location, and (3) the ingress and egress to the site was already dangerous. (R.26)

The denial of the Application was appealed to the Board of County Commissioners. (R.27) That body approved the Application and granted the zoning change, thereby reversing the previous decision of the Salt Lake Planning Commission. (R.29)

Plaintiff was granted a Building Permit and made arrangements to construct the store building on the newly-zoned premises. One day before the construction was to begin, plaintiff was advised by the defendants that his Building Permit had been revoked and that the approval of the zoning change had been withdrawn by the Commission. The reason given for the withdrawal was that the Planning Commission had learned that the legal description in the plaintiff's Zoning Application was not accurate. (R.22)

The Complaint alleges further that the acts of the defendants in withdrawing the zoning change previously approved by the Board of County Commissioners exceeded the jurisdiction of the Planning Commission and abused its discretion. Plaintiff alleged that these actions were arbitrary and capricious in nature. (R.22) Based thereon, plaintiff sought mandamus relief from the court. (R.24)

The Complaint alleges further that the Planning Commission was aware of the actual location of the property that was subject to the zoning change, and that the defendants willfully and intentionally withheld the information about the erroneous property description from the plaintiff and from the Board of County Commissioners until it would be impossible, because of notice requirements, to have the appeal re-heard by the Board of County Commissioners as then constituted. Both of the Salt Lake County Commissioners who voted in favor of the zoning change were leaving office on January 1,



1981, and were being replaced by newly elected officials who were not previously involved in granting the zoning change. The only incumbent County Commissioner had voted against that change. Plaintiff alleged that the defendants were attempting to circumvent the previous decision of the Board of County Commissioners in that manner, all of which was contrary to law and in derogation of the constitutional and legal rights of the plaintiff. (R.22)

Based on the Verified Complaint of the plaintiff, the court entered its Order to Show Cause requiring the defendants to certify to the court a Transcript of the records and proceedings of the administrative body pertaining to plaintiff's Application for zoning change. (R.23) This has never been done, but the Salt Lake County Attorney's Office filed an Answer alleging that the legal description set forth in the Notice of the Zoning Hearing held before the Board of County Commissioners does not accurately describe the plaintiff's property, is confusing and misleading, and does not inform interested parties as to the property which was considered for rezoning. The Answer questions, because of defective notice, the enacting of the zoning ordinance which allowed the zoning change by the Board of County Commissioners. The Answer expressly admits that plaintiff is the owner of certain real property located at approximately 7770 South 2000 East in Salt Lake County. (R.34-37)

Defendants subsequently filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on the ground that there were no material facts in dispute in this action and that defendants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (R.68) The Motion was supported by affidavits of some of the defendants, which established that the legal descriptions furnished by the plaintiff were erroneous, a fact which is not disputed in this action. (R.56-67) The affidavit of Roy S. Baty, Jr., states that the street address of 7770 South 2000 East has been given to another person known as Edson Packer. (R.62)

The plaintiff countered with his own Affidavit in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R.83-91) This Affidavit states that the property to be rezoned is located at approximately 7770 South 2000 East. Mr. Merrihew pointed out that he resides at 7750 South 2000 East and his father resides at 7790 South 2000 East. The vacant property to be rezoned lies between the residences of the plaintiff and his father, and is located at approximately 7770 South 2000 East. (R.83-84) Again, the Answer admits that plaintiff is the owner of that property. (R.34)

The plaintiff also points out in his Affidavit that Mr. Edson Packer actually resides on a private roadway at least 1/2 mile west of 2000 East. Mr. Merrihew also points out that Mr. Packer has no interest in the property to be rezoned and has no interest in any land located at approximately 7770 South 2000 East.

The address used in the Application was chosen for the purpose of accurately showing the true location of the property rather than to give the property a street address. (R.85)

Mr. Merrihew also points out that he has requested a similar zoning change on the same piece of property on at least two previous occasions. The members of the Salt Lake County Planning and Zoning Commission visited the premises prior to the hearing on each of those previous applications. Both the Planning Commission and the Salt Lake County Board of commissioners visited the property in connection with the present Application for zoning change. (R.85)

Mr. Merrihew also points out that none of the defendants ever raised any question about the location of the property until the 'discovery' of the erroneous property description, and that submission of the erroneous property description did not mislead or misdirect the Salt Lake County Commission or the Salt Lake County Board of Commissioners in their consideration for the zoning change. (R.85)

Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was argued before the Honorable G. Hal Taylor on September 16, 1981. (R.92) After hearing argument of counsel, the Judge granted the Motion for Summary Judgment and remanded the matter to the County Commission. (R.92) Formal judgment was entered by the court on September 23, 1981, dismissing plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice and declaring the zoning enacted by the Board of County Commissioners to be null and

void. The judgment said nothing about the defense of failure to exhaust administrative remedies, and the court apparently did not base its judgment on that defense. (R.94)

This appeal was timely filed on October 16, 1981. Plaintiff contends on this appeal that the pleadings and affidavits on file with the court raise material questions of fact to be resolved by the court at trial, and that defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment should have been denied. (R.96)

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY ENTERED  
SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS  
BECAUSE THERE WERE GENUINE ISSUES OF FACT  
TO BE DECIDED BY A TRIAL OF THIS ACTION  
WHEN THE CASE WAS CONCLUDED BY THE COURT.

Rule 56(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, defines the circumstances under which the court may enter Summary Judgment in a pending legal action. The applicable language reads as follows:

"The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

In construing and applying this Rule, the Utah Supreme Court has carefully defined and limited the circumstances under which Summary Judgment is appropriate. In the recent case of Grow v. Marwick Development, Inc., 621 P.2d 1249, the Utah court

pointed out that Summary Judgment can only be granted when there is no dispute as to a material fact. The language of the court elaborating on this principle is as follows:

"It is a well-settled principle of law that summary judgment can only be granted when there is no dispute as to a material fact. Russell v. Park City Utah Corp., 29 Utah 2d 184, 506 P.2d 1274 (1973); Controlled Receivables, Inc. v. Harman, 17 Utah 2d 420, 413 P.2d 807 (1966). The purpose of summary judgment is to save the expense and time of the parties and the court, and if the party being ruled against could not prevail when the facts are looked at most favorably for his position, then summary judgment should be granted. Holbrook Co. v. Adams, Utah, 542 P.2d 191 (1975). If there is a question of fact raised by the pleadings or affidavits, the court is precluded from granting summary judgment. Hatch v. Sugarhouse Finance Co., 20 Utah 2d 156, 434 P.2d 768 (1967)."

In W. M. Barnes Company v. Ohio Natural Resources Company, 627 P.2d 56, the court pointed out that the district court has no right to weight disputed evidence or determine the credibility of witnesses in ruling on a motion for summary judgment. In this regard, the court stated as follows:

"On a motion for summary judgment, it is not appropriate for a court to weigh disputed evidence concerning such factors; the sole inquiry to be determined is whether there is a material issue of fact to be decided. Holbrook Co. v. Adams, Utah, 542 P.2d 191 (1975). In making that determination, a court should not evaluate the credibility of the witness. It is of no moment that the evidence on one side may appear to be strong or even compelling, and documentary evidence is not dispositive if the intent and purpose underlying the documents are at issue. Kjar v. Brimley, supra." (27 U.2d 411, 497 P.2d 23)

In the case of Holbrook Co. v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191, which is cited extensively in most later cases dealing with summary judgment,

the court emphasized the importance of allowing issues of fact to be decided by the jury. We quote from the decision as follows:

". . . it only takes one sworn statement under oath to dispute the averments on the other side of the controversy and create an issue of fact. This is analogous to the elemental rule that the fact trier may believe one witness as against many, or many against one.

\* \* \* \* \*

It is not the purpose of the summary judgment procedure to judge the credibility of the averments of parties, or witnesses, or the weight of evidence. Neither is it to deny parties the right to a trial to resolve disputed issues of fact. Its purpose is to eliminate the time, trouble and expense of trial when upon any view taken of the facts as asserted by the party ruled against, he would not be entitled to prevail. Only when it so appears, is the court justified in refusing such a party the opportunity of presenting his evidence and attempting to persuade the fact trier to his views. Conversely, if there is any dispute as to any issue, material to the settlement of the controversy, the summary judgment should not be granted."

The Utah case of Frederick May & Company v. Dunn, 13 U.2d 40, 368 P.2d 266, points out that the court must view the pleadings, evidence, admissions and inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the loser, and that the record must preclude, as a matter of law, all reasonable possibility that the loser could win if given a trial.

Applying the tests laid down by this court in the above cases, it appears that the District Judge was in error when he granted Summary Judgment in favor of the defendants in this action. The pleadings and affidavits on file herein raised questions of fact pertaining to whether the public and the Commissioners were aware of the accurate location of the property and whether they were misled or confused by the inaccurate legal description. There were other factual questions about the arbitrary and capricious nature of the action taken by defendants and about whether defendants intentionally violated the

constitutional and legal rights of the plaintiff.

A. Location of property.

Although plaintiff has conceded that the legal description on the Application for zoning change was not accurate in all respects, he has not thereby suggested or agreed that the Application did not adequately describe the property for interested persons or that the Application mislead or confused interested parties as to its actual location. The Application states that the property is located at 7770 South 2000 East in Salt Lake County. (R.84) This piece of property is well known to the Salt Lake County Planning Commission. Mr. Merrihew has requested a similar zoning change on the same piece of property on at least two previous occasions. Those previous applications were denied, but in each instance the members of the Salt Lake County Planning Commission visited the premises to make an on-site inspection of the property prior to the hearing held on the application. In connection with the present application, the Salt Lake County Planning Commission and the Salt Lake County Board of Commissioners both visited the property described in the Application before their separate rulings were made on the zoning change. Until the 'discovery' of the erroneous property description, none of the defendants in this action ever raised any question about the location of the property. Attached to the Merrihew Affidavit as Exhibit B, is a map that was prepared by the Salt Lake County Planning

Commission in connection with plaintiff's Application for Zoning Change. (R.88) The circled area of that map shows the exact location of the property which plaintiff asked to have rezoned. That Exhibit was prepared by the planning staff, and we can presume that they knew the location of the property which they so accurately outlined on their map. (R.85-86)

In an effort to show their confusion as to the location of the property, the defendants filed the Affidavit of Roy S. Baty, Jr., who points out that the address on the Application of 7770 South 2000 East was given to property owned by Edson Packer on June 7, 1972. On the other hand, Mr. Merrihew states in his Affidavit that he resides in a home at 7750 South 2000 East while his father resides at 7790 South 2000 East. The property between the two homes is vacant land that is owned by the plaintiff. Its approximate location is 7770 South 2000 East. That address was used in the Application because it most nearly described the street address of the proposed store building. (R.85-86)

The conflicting affidavits of Roy S. Baty, Jr. and John E. Merrihew raise issues of fact regarding whether the Board knew the precise location of the rezoned property and whether adjoining land owners were confused or misled by the erroneous legal description.

Neither the Utah statutes nor the Salt Lake County Zoning Ordinances specify the form of the notice to be published and given to the public in connection with appeals made to the Board of County



Commissioners on zoning matters. The Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake County, 1966, §22-1-2, specifies the appeal procedures. It provides that any person shall have the right to repeal from any decision rendered by the Salt Lake County Planning Commission by filing an appeal in writing within 10 days after the decision with the Board of County Commissioners. The ordinance provides further that the Board of County Commissioners may set a date for a public hearing, notice of which will be published in a newspaper of general circulation within the county at least 30 days prior to the hearing.

In the case of Naylor v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 17 Utah 2d 300, 410 P.2d 764, the Utah Supreme Court held that the notice of a zoning ordinance was proper and adequate even though the notice incorrectly stated the reclassification that was desired. The notice advised that the proposed change was from R-6 to C-3, while the zoning was actually changed from R-6 to B-3. Plaintiffs claimed that since the notice was erroneous, the zoning change was void. This court noted that the plaintiffs had suffered no disadvantage because they had had actual notice of the change made and had participated in the hearings before the Board of County Commissioners.

Utah law in this regard is similar to cases decided in other states. In Capps v. City of Raleigh, 241 SE.2d 527, 531, the North Carolina court held that since the zoning ordinance in question did not require a metes and bounds description, then a general notice designating the area to be affected by the zoning change was sufficient to put property owners in the vicinity on notice that their property may be rezoned.

In Sweetman v. Town of Cumberland, 364 A.2d 1277, the court laid down a test for the sufficiency of notice to be given in zoning cases. The plaintiff contended that the notice to neighboring landowners was insufficient because it did not describe the land by metes and bounds. The court stated that the notice in zoning cases must be sufficient to inform the ordinary layman lacking experience in zoning matters of the property affected and the changes sought. A metes and bounds description is not needed to satisfy this test. Significant here was the fact that notice was mailed to all adjoining landowners having property within 200 feet of the zoned property.

The courts of Florida held an ordinance valid despite the fact that the description of the property affected by it was different from the property described in the notice pursuant to which it was passed. See Bregar v. Britton, 75 So.2d 753, Cert Den 348 US 972, 99 L.Ed 757, 75 S.Ct. 534.

In Closterman v. Cranford Township, 22 NJ Super 204, 91 A.2d 646, the New Jersey court affirmed a judgment upholding the validity of a zoning ordinance even though the legal description was inaccurate. The court noted that the monumenting in the notice was sufficient, since the street lines of the property constituted monuments and correctly delineated the property. The court found no irregularities in the notice of the ordinance and said the purpose of the statutory notice is to give citizens notice of the

consideration of the ordinance and an opportunity to be heard. Since the facts showed that citizens appeared in substantial numbers at the hearing, then the purposes of the statute had been served. See also Helms v. Charlotte, 255 NC 647, 122 SE.2d 814, 96 ALR2d 439.

In Ciaffone v. Community Shopping Corporation, 195 VA. 41, 77 SE.2d 817, 39 ALR2d 757, the Virginia court rejected the contention that a zoning ordinance was invalid because notice of the exact property to be affected by it had not been published in accordance with the state enabling statute where the trial judge had found that the property was described with reasonable certainty and sufficient definiteness to be identified. See also 2525 East Avenue Inc. v. Brighton, 33 MISC 2d 1029, 228 NYS2d 209, 17 APP DIV 2d 908, 233 NYS2d 759.

In Carson v. Board of Appeals, 321 Mass. 649, 75 NE2d 116, the Massachusetts court held that notice of hearing on a petition for a special permit for the erection and maintenance of a garage was adequate even though the street address stated therein was erroneous. It appeared that the subject property had once been part of a large tract which fronted on Bedford Street and that the entire tract was numbered 47-49 Bedford Street. Prior to the filing of the petition for the special permit, the owner had sold off the portion fronting on Bedford Street, leaving the property to be rezoned fronting on Camellia Place, which ran easterly from Bedford

Street. The court said the notice was sufficient even though the land did not front on Bedford Street because the remaining land was still being taxed as if it were located at 47-49 Bedford Street. The court said the description in the petition and notice could hardly have referred to any land other than that for which the special permit was requested, since the only other land having the same numbering was the land which had already been conveyed to the town. The court also noted that since no one objected to the wrong description at the hearing before the board, then no one could have been misled by the description.

The case of Tolman v. Salt Lake County, 20 U.2d 310, 437 P.2d 442, seems to establish the Utah test for determining the sufficiency of notice to the public in zoning cases. In expressing its feelings about the notice requirements, the Utah court quoted from Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank, 339 US 306, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 365, as follows:

"The fundamental requisite of due process of law is the opportunity to be heard. \* \* \*

An elementary and fundamental requirement of due process which is to be accorded finality is notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.

\* \* \* A notice must be of such nature as reasonably to convey the required information \* \* \* and it must afford reasonable time to those interested to make their appearance. (Emphasis by the court.)

The above cases show that a flawless metes and bounds description of the property to be rezoned is not necessary so long

as the recipients of the notice can reasonably ascertain that the subject property may be affected by the enactment. In the case now before the court, the Salt Lake Planning Commission was fully aware of where the property was located. Its members had actual notice of the precise spot where Mr. Merrihew wanted to build the store. Many property owners in the immediate vicinity had participated in the hearings held before the Board of Commissioners of Salt Lake County. The erroneous legal description caused them no inconvenience or loss whatsoever. Defendants didn't even discover the erroneous property description until after the hearings had been held and the decision had been rendered. The fact that there were some errors in the legal description did not void the notice given to the public or nullify the proceedings in which the zoning was changed.

One obvious legal principle appears from reading the many cases cited above. There is no way to determine whether the given notice of a proposed zoning change is adequate or proper without first hearing the facts and circumstances relating thereto. The contradictory information found in the pleadings and affidavits in this case did not give the court sufficient factual basis upon which to rule on the issues as a matter of law.

B. Arbitrary and capricious action of the defendants.

A second question of fact remained to be decided by the trial court before entry of judgment was proper. Plaintiff's Complaint

alleges that defendants willfully and intentionally withheld the information about the erroneous property description from him and from the Board of County Commissioners of Salt Lake County until November 25, 1980, so he could not, because of statutory notice requirements, have his appeal reheard by the Board of County Commissioners as then constituted. The two County Commissioners who voted in favor of the zoning change were scheduled to leave office on January 1, 1981. Through the election process, they had been replaced by newly elected officials who were not previously involved in granting the zoning change. The sole remaining incumbent County Commissioner had voted against the change. Plaintiff alleged that the acts of the defendants in attempting to circumvent the previous decision of the Board of County Commissioners were arbitrary and capricious and were in derogation of the constitutional and legal rights of the plaintiff.

The affidavits of the parteis do not address themselves to this issue. There is no way to determine whether plaintiff's allegations of arbitrary and capricious action are true without hearing facts presented by the parties at the trial of this case. In the case of Naylor v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 16 U.2d 192, 392 P.2d 27, the Utah Supreme Court reversed a Summary Judgment entered in a zoning case. The plaintiff had alleged an abuse of discretion and arbitrary action on the part of the Salt Lake City

Commission in changing the zoning classification of certain real property. This court held that plaintiffs, by their Complaint and by their offer of proof, presented genuine issues to be resolved by the court at the trial. Upon a second appeal of the same case after trial, Naylor v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 17 U.2d 277, 410 P.2d 764, the court held that the evidence at trial supported defendant's claim that the City Commissioners were not guilty of an abuse of discretion. The combination of these two appeals indicates that the questions of arbitrary and capricious actions are to be determined from the facts of the case presented at trial.

POINT NO. II

PLAINTIFF WAS NOT REQUIRED TO EXHAUST  
ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES BEFORE FILING  
THIS ACTION IN THE DISTRICT COURT.

Based upon the case of Lund v. Cottonwood Meadows Company, 392 P.2d 40, 15 U.2d 305, the defendants claimed in their Motion for Summary Judgment that plaintiffs failed to exhaust their administrative remedies before filing suit in the District Court. The cited case was factually different from the instant case. In the Lund case, the court held that plaintiff had not exhausted his administrative remedies because he had failed to appeal a decision of the Planning Commission to the Board of County Commissioners, as required by the applicable ordinance. The court held that an adverse decision of the Planning Commission must first be appealed to the higher administrative tribunal before a suit can be filed to contest that decision.

The facts of the Lund case are much different than the ones now facing the court. Plaintiff in this action first went before the Salt Lake County Planning Commission with his Application for a zoning change. When that change was denied, the decision of the Planning Commission was appealed to the Board of Commissioners of Salt Lake County and was reversed. No appeal was taken from that decision. After the decision was final, the employees of the Planning Commission set it aside without hearing or review because of alleged notice deficiencies. Having taken such administrative action, the defendants now claim that plaintiff must return to the Board of County Commissioners and appeal the decision of the bureaucrat before plaintiff has exhausted his administrative remedies.

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