1982

# John E. Merrihew v. Salt Lake County et al : Brief of Defendants-Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

PLAINTIFF FAILED TO EXHAUST HIS ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES; THEREFORE, THIS SUIT IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT.

Section 17-27-16, Utah Code Ann., provides in part:

"Appeals to the board of adjustment may be taken by any person aggrieved by his inability to obtain a building permit, or by the decision of any administrative officer or agency based upon or made in the course of the administration or enforcement of the provisions of the zoning resolution.... Upon appeals the board of adjustment shall have the following powers:

(1) To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged by the appellant that there is error in any order, requirement, decision, or refusal made by administrative official or agency based on or made in the enforcement of the zoning resolution...."

The decision of the planning staff and building inspector to revoke plaintiff's building permit and to have the Board of County Commissioners rehear his zoning application is a decision an administrative officer made in the course of the enforcement of the zoning ordinance and plaintiff had the right to appeal that decision to the Board of Adjustment under Utah Code Ann. 17-27-16. It is a general proposition of law that parties must exhaust potential administrative remedies as a prerequisite to seeking judicial review. Pacific Intermountain Express Co. v. State Tax Comm., 316 P.2d 549 (Utah 1957); Johnson v. Utah State Retirement Office, 621 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1980); 2 Am. Jur.2d Administrative Law, Section 595.

The same principle has been applied in zoning law where parties have failed to appeal to the Board of Adjustment a decision of the building inspector to deny a building permit. In State ex rel. J. S. Alberici v. City of Fenton, 576 S.W.2d 574 (Mo. 1979), plaintiff therein sued the City of Fenton because the building inspector refused to issue a permit for the construction of a trash transfer station on the basis of a letter from the City Attorney that the use would violate the ordinance. The court dismissed the action, stating:

"Mandamus being an extraordinary legal remedy, should not issue unless the party seeking the writ shows a 'clear, unequivocal specific right to have performed the thing demanded and that the defendant or respondent has a corresponding duty to perform the action sought.' (cites omitted) The respondent did not satisfy this standard, and we hold therefore that the writ was inadvisably issued because there was available to the respondent an adequate and available remedy by way of administrative review which was not exhausted." 576 S.W.2d at 579.

Numerous other courts have also held that a person denied a building permit must exhaust his administrative remedies before seeking judicial relief. Watson v. Norris, 217 So.2d 246 (Ala. 1968); Wern v. Kasotsky, 158 N.Y.S.2d 106 (1956); Nauhaus v. Building Inspector, Inc., 415 N.W.2d 235 (Mass. 1980); Daisy Barn Stores, Inc. v. Perlman, 244 N.Y.S.2d 452 (1963).

Utah law is in accord. In Lund v. Cottonwood Meadows Co., 392 P.2d 40 (Utah 1964), the Utah Supreme Court affirmed summary judgment against plaintiffs who alleged a violation of a zoning ordinance by the Planning Commission in issuing a permit for a mobile trailer park, but who had failed to appeal from that administrative ruling to the Board of Adjustment as provided in Section 17-27-16.

The Lund case is similar to the fact situation herein. Here plaintiff failed to exhaust his administrative remedy by appealing to the Board of Adjustment the decision of the County Building Administrator to revoke plaintiff's building permit on the basis that plaintiff's property had not been rezoned properly. Therefore, defendants submit the lower court had no jurisdiction in the matter.

## POINT II

FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE PROPER NOTICE  
REQUIREMENTS OF UTAH CODE ANN. 17-27-17  
RESULTED IN A DEFECTIVE AND INVALID HEARING  
AND THE ZONING ORDINANCE ENACTED AT THE  
HEARING IS INEFFECTIVE AND VOID AS A MATTER  
OF LAW.

Utah Code Ann. Section 17-27-17 (1953) provides the procedure for having property rezoned. That section requires that the Board of County Commissioners hold a public hearing before rezoning any property, the time and place of which must be given by publication and posting at least 30 days prior to the hearing.

The majority of jurisdictions adopt the general rule that when applicable statutes call for notice of hearing prior to the adoption or amendment of zoning laws, they are construed as mandatory and jurisdictional so that ordinances passed in contravention thereof are invalid or void in the sense that they were never legally enacted. Citizens For Better Government v. County of Valley, 508 P.2d 550 (Idaho 1973); Holly Development Inc. v. Board of County Comm'rs., 342 P.2d 1032 (Colo. 1959); Nesbit v. City of Albuquerque, 575 P.2d 1340 (N.M. 1977); State ex rel. Freeze v. Cape Girardeau, 523 S.W.2d 123 (1975, Mo. App.); Kirk v. Village of Hillcrest, 15 Ill. App.3d 415, 304 N.E.2d 452 (1973); 96 ALR2d 449.

This Court has also invalidated zoning enacted in contravention of statutory notice requirements. In Tolman v. Salt Lake County, 437 P.2d 442 (1968), the Court struck down a zoning ordinance for failure to give adequate notice. Although notice

was posted on the courthouse door and on two telephone poles, the Court held such efforts were not "designed to give notice to the persons affected," as required by statute. Also in Melville v. Salt Lake County, 536 P.2d 133 (1975), the Court struck down a zoning ordinance where the notice of hearing was published one time instead of four times as required by statute.

Use of the address for Edson Packer's property on the notice of hearing as the property plaintiff sought to have rezoned failed to meet the requirement that notice fairly apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action. Far from being calculated to convey the necessary information and afford an opportunity to respond, it was insufficient, ambiguous and misleading to the average citizen and therefore inadequate as "notice." In similar fact situations where the description of the property being considered for rezoning was misleading and confusing in the notice of hearing, courts have invalidated the zoning ordinances.

In the case of Dietz v. Remington, 118 N.Y.S.2d 177 (1952), a zoning amendment notice described an incorrect location of the premises involved (distance of 1600 feet west rather than 700) and made reference to lot numbers on a map of development when in fact there were two different maps of the development, each of which included ambiguous lot numbers. The court held the notice failed to reasonably apprise the public of the specific premises involved and was insufficient to constitute notice under the statute.

In Paquette v. Zoning Board of Review, 372 A.2d 973 (R.I. 1977), a notice of hearing for an application to build an apartment building on two lots described one lot correctly but listed the other lot as 754 Eagle Street instead of 574. The court invalidated the hearing on the basis that the typographical error may have caused some doubt concerning the specific property involved. See also Meldo v. Board of Review, 177 A.2d 533 (R.I. 1962); Abbott v. Zoning Board of Review, 79 A.2d 620 (R.I. 1951).

Plaintiff cites several cases for the proposition that a notice need not use a metes and bounds description as long as it apprises interested persons of the property being considered for rezoning. Defendants do not disagree with this proposition; however, the principle is not applicable here since a metes and bounds description was in fact used in the notice. The description furnished by plaintiff did not close and describes the property as crossing 2000 East. This description did not even include the property in question and is totally inaccurate to give notice to an interested party. This compounded, not cured, the problem of the inaccurate address.

The issue is whether the notice properly notified the public, not the Planning Commission or planning staff, as plaintiff appears to contend. The notice requirements in the law exists for protection of the public and property owners are entitled to proper statutory notice before passage of an ordinance that changes or limits the use of their property or surrounding property. Clearly, the erroneous descriptions of plaintiff's

property on this notice which identified a completely separate and distinct parcel of land by address and made no sense in the metes and bounds description were not sufficient to notify anyone of the location or size of the property actually considered and approved for rezoning by the Commission.

The sufficiency of the legal notice of a zoning hearing is a pure issue of law and not of fact. Federal Building Development Corp. v. The Town of Jamestown, 312 A.2d 586 (1973); Caps v. City of Raleigh, 241 S.E.2d 527 (N. Carolina 1978); Delucia v. The Town of Jamestown, 265 A.2d 636 (R.I. 1970). Therefore, the lower court correctly decided the issue as a matter of law.

Plaintiff further alleges a factual issue exists as to whether employees of the County knew of the erroneous legal description furnished by plaintiff but withheld that information from plaintiff. The affidavits of Clayne Ricks, Glenn Graham and William Marsh state that the planning staff became aware of the error only after plaintiff had been issued his building permit. T-56, 57, 59, 66. Plaintiff has filed no affidavit setting forth facts showing that this is a genuine issue for trial as required by Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; thus, the matter is a proper one for summary judgment.

#### CONCLUSION

It is undisputed that plaintiff did not exhaust his administrative remedies by appealing the decision of the Building Inspector to revoke plaintiff's building permit to the Board of Adjustment prior to seeking judicial relief.

It is also not disputed that the legal description and address furnished by plaintiff and used in the legal notice of hearing and amended zoning ordinance for plaintiff's property did not describe the property which was considered for rezoning and upon which plaintiff was issued a building permit. The law is clear that a zoning ordinance is invalid where the notice of hearing does not reasonably describe the property considered for rezoning. In such a case, the appropriate remedy is to have the matter reheard after proper notice has been given.

There are no relevant facts in dispute in this matter and the lower court properly decided the case as a matter of law. For these reasons, defendants would submit the lower court's decision granting summary judgment to defendants should be upheld.